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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Alexander Emerson asks the Supreme Court to accept 

review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals, Division I, filed an unpublished 

opinion on March 11, 2024 affirming Mr. Emerson's conviction 

for Rape in the Third Degree. A copy is in the Appendix at pages 

A-1 throughA-21. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

The sole issue presented for appeal is whether an accused 

is deprived of the constitutional right to effective assistance of 

counsel where defense counsel presents evidence and argument 

supporting a defense but fails to propose the instruction that 

would permit the jury to find the defense. 
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D. STATEMENT OF CASE 

This is an appeal from a judgment and sentence entered on 

October 7, 2022, following a jury trial resulting in a guilty verdict 

with respect to the charged offense of Rape in the Second Degree, 

RCW 9A.44 . 05 0(1 )(b ). See CP at 1 ( alleging "L.B. was incapable 

of consenting to sexual intercourse by reason of being physically 

helpless"); see also CP at 261, 370-75 . 

Testimony of L.B. 

The complaining witness, L.B. (27 years old at the time of 

trial), testified that she was introduced to Mr. Emerson by her 

mother, Kelley Binder, in early spring of 2019. RP I at 472-74 . 

Mr. Emerson had attended flight attended school with L.B. 's 

mother and she (Ms. Binder) thought that they might be friends. 

RP I at 472. 

L.B. and Mr. Emerson exchanged texts and hung out in the 

Seattle area about four times between March 25 , 2019 and May 

4, 2019. RP I at 476. According to L.B., they got along "really 

well. " RP I at 476. L.B. denied having any romantic feelings for 
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Mr. Emerson and "[ didn't] think" her relationship with him was 

"flirty." RP I at 477. L.B. testified that she attempted to "lay 

boundaries" with Mr. Emerson by reiterating when they met up 

that, "hey, I'm not interested in you like that. I think you're a 

really cool friend. And I'd still like to continue to hang out with 

you and everything, but I'm not interested in an intimate 

relationship or exclusive relationship." RP I at 478. L.B. testified 

that Mr. Emerson was "cool about it" and respected it. RP I at 

478. 

L.B. testified that Mr. Emerson had stayed overnight and 

the two had slept in the same bed before the incident in question. 

RP at I at 4 78-80. L.B. denied that anything sexual ever happened 

between her and Mr. Emerson that night. RP I at 481. 

L.B. testified that on May 4, 2019, she invited Mr. 

Emerson over to hang out. RP I at 482. She was working on a 

mural she was doing for her bedroom and wanted the company. 

See id. Mr. Emerson arrived later in the evening around 9:00-915 

pm and the two hung out in L.B. 's room. RP I at 485-86. L.B. 
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was obsessed with the Disney movie "Mulan" at the time, so they 

were listening to it on repeat as L.B. worked on the mural and 

they hung out and talked. RP I at 486. 

Both Mr. Emerson and L.B. were drinking on the night in 

question. See id. L.B. was drinking vodka soda and had 

"probably two drinks" before Mr. Emerson arrived RP I at 486-

87. L.B. denied being "buzzed" at the time Mr. Emerson arrived. 

RP I at 487. Mr. Emerson brought vodka over, but it did not 

appear to L.B. that he had been drinking before he arrived. See 

id. Mr. Emerson drank, but L.B. couldn't say how much he had 

because she was working on her mural. See id. L.B. also 

continued to drink after Mr. Emerson arrived� she believed she 

had a total of six (6) drinks through the night. RP I at 490-91. 

L.B. wasn't paying attention to the amount of alcohol Mr. 

Emerson consumed, but could tell that he was "getting buzzed, 

but nothing extreme." RP I at 491. 

Later, Cassidy Calwaystein, L.B.'s roommate, returned 

home and joined the two in L.B.'s bedroom. RP I at 491-92. Ms. 
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Calwaystein sat on the bed and was chatting with Mr. Emerson. 

L.B. wasn't paying attention to what they were talking about 

because she was working on her mural. RP I at 492. L.B. thinks 

they ordered a pizza but couldn't remember. See id. 

Eventually, Ms. Calway stein went to bed in her own 

bedroom after which Mr. Emerson and L.B. hung out and talked 

for a while. RP I at 493-95. 

L.B. testified that she was tired and said that she was going 

to bed. RP I at 495. She indicated to Mr. Emerson that he could 

stay if he wanted. See id. L.B. and Mr. Emerson went to sleep in 

L.B.' s bedroom. RP I at 495-497. L.B. went to sleep wearing 

sweatpants she borrowed from Ms. Calway stein and a t-shirt; Mr. 

Emerson went to sleep wearing boxer shorts and a t-shirt. See id. 

When they got into bed, Mr. Emerson and L.B. "maybe cuddle[ d] 

a little bit[,]" lying on their side in a spooning situation. RP I at 

497-98. Mr. Emerson's right hand was on her upper hip; L.B. 

was comfortable with that contact. RP I at 499. L.B. fell asleep 

right away. See id. When she went to sleep, L.B. wasn't "super 

8 



drunk," but she had a really good buzz. RP I at 500. 

L.B. testified that her next memory was of Mr. Emerson 

on top of her. RP I at 500. For purposes of clarity, L.B. 's 

description of the incident is taken verbatim from the transcript: 

Mr. Emerson was on top of me, and my, uh, 
sweatpants were down. And, uhm, sorry to get 
graphic, but, uhm, uh, there was penetration. His­
but, you know, when you're not aroused, it's kind of 
like-it's in, but it's having a hard time getting fully 
in. So, it was erect, but not, like, super-duper hard, I 
think. It was just mostly me being dry. Uhm, and 
there was thrusting movement. And I froze for a 
second. Then I shoved him off immediately. And 
then he, like, took my shoulder, pressed me back 
down, and tried to, like, pull at my pants again, and 
then, uh-and then, uh, I shoved him off again. And 
I yelled at him, like, what the fuck are you doing? 
And, uhm, he kind of just [inaudible] to himself 
because I made him get off the bed. Uhm, I'm pretty 
sure he stumbled a little bit, and then, like, I kind of 
just said-I just, like, yelled at him briefly. 

And then I ran into [Ms. Calway stein's] room. I 
woke her up. I was crying and I, like, 
hyperventilating, and I told her what happened. 

See RP II at 509. 

L.B. testified that while she was in Ms. Calwaystein's 

room, she asked her to tell Mr. Emerson to leave� however, Ms. 
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Calwaystein was too scared to leave, so L.B. bulked up her 

courage and opened the door (her bedroom door was still open) 

and said "you need to leave now." RP II at 514. Mr. Emerson 

initially tried to play dumb and then said "I'm sorry, I'll leave." 

See id. 

L.B. testified that Mr. Emerson put on his clothes and left 

the apartment within about five (5) minutes of L.B. leaving her 

bedroom. RP II at 515-17. After several unsuccessful attempts, 

L.B. connected with her mother around 4:00 am who convinced 

her (L.B.) to report the matter to the police, which she did after 

speaking with her. RP II at 518-19. 

At 4:00 am, Mr. Emerson texted L.B. saying, "I got beat 

up and robbed. It was probably for the best. I don't really know 

what happened between us. Please enjoy your life. Thanks for 

being a friend." RP II at 520-21. L.B. responded, "You're a 

fucking disgusting being. Never contact me again. I hope you 

never put another person through what you put me through. 

Blocked." RP II at 521. 



Testimony of Alexander Emerson 

Mr. Alexander Emerson (36 years old at the time of trial) 

testified in his own defense. See generally RP II at 5 69-641. He 

testified that he was living in SeaTac, WA at the time of trial, but 

that he grew up on the island of Maui, Hawaii and attended King 

Kekaulike High School. RP II at 5 69. He also attended massage 

therapy training after high school. See id. At the time of trial, he 

was working as a server at a Mexican Restaurant. RP II at 5 69-

70. Before that, he was a flight attendant at Delta Airlines. RP II 

at 5 70. He was not married and had three (3) children ages 13, 8 

and 5 .  See id. 

After flight attendant training for Delta in Atlanta, 

Georgia, he was assigned to Seattle, which is where he wanted to 

be because it was easier to fly out of to see his kids in Hawaii and 

Las Vegas. RP II 5 73-74 . While in Seattle, he met L.B. because 

he had her contact info through her mother. RP II at 5 73-74 . 

Their first contact was in March of 2019 at the 

Hummingbird Saloon. RP II at 5 77. They were both drinking 
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whiskey sours. RP II at 578. They each exchanged one story of 

their craziest sexual experience. RP II at 579. They left the saloon 

about 11 :45 pm and went back to her landlord's house and 

eventually ended up in her room. RP II 579-81. He offered to 

show her massage techniques with clothes on; she used 

techniques on him. RP II at 582-83. He slept in her bed because 

she was insistent; he couldn't sleep on couch in living room 

because she didn't know if that would be okay with the landlord. 

RP II at 585. Mr. Emerson indicated the he was fine sleeping on 

the floor, but L.B. told him that it was okay for him to sleep with 

her in the bed, that they would have boundaries. RP II at 585. 

L.B. made a divider with pillows and a blanket down the bed. 

See id. When he went to the restroom during the night, the barrier 

was gone and L.B. was now closer to the window and he was on 

the edge of the bed. RP II at 586. 

The next time they hung out was in May when he went to 

her new apartment. RP II at 588. He arrived at around 8:30 pm 

and then Ms. Calwaystein arrived afterwards at around 9:00 pm. 
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RP II at 589. L.B. showed Mr. Emerson the new apartment and 

the they chatted for a while before going to the store to get potato 

wedges and seltzer for L.B. 's vodka. See id. Mr. Emerson wasn't 

drinking because he was on call. RP II at 590-91. When it was 

time to go to bed, Mr. Emerson offered to sleep on the couch, but 

L.B. was persistent that he sleep with her on the bed. RP II at 

591-92. They went to sleep around 11 :30 pm - 12:00 am. RP II 

at 592. Mr. Emerson was wearing t-shirt and boxers; she was 

wearing shirt and sweatpants. RP II at 592-94. There was no bed 

divider this time. RP II at 592. They were cuddling; Mr. Emerson 

put his hands on her upper body and chest, looking the same 

direction in the spooning position. RP II at 593-94. 

L.B. had to be at work at 9:00 am, so they were both up 

about 7:30-8:00 am. RP II at 594. L.B. said Mr. Emerson could 

stay there if he wanted while she worked; he didn't feel 

comfortable doing that. RP II at 594-95. They left the apartment 

at the same time. See id. 

The next night the two hung out was the night of the 
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incident in question. RP II at 595. Mr. Emerson got to her 

apartment via light rail and Uber about 10:30-11 :00 pm. See id. 

Mr. Emerson brought his roller bag and strawberry flavored 

tequila, which he bought at the store near where he lives. RP II 

at 595. Mr. Emerson was drinking tequila; L.B. was drinking 

vodka. RP II at 596. Ms. Calwaystein came home about one (1) 

hour later. RP II at 596. They were playing music; L.B. made a 

comment to Ms. Calwaystein that Mr. Emerson was a good 

cuddler. See id. 

Ms. Calwaystein came to the bed and laid with Mr. 

Emerson. See id. She (Ms. Calwaystein) tried the tequila and 

thought it was gross, so she switched to vodka. RP II at 597. Ms. 

Calwaystein left the room after they ate pizza they ordered, 

which got there about I :30 am. See id. 

Mr. Emerson said goodnight to Ms. Calwaystein and gave 

her hug and kissed her on side of neck; they had previously made 

out a little bit on the bed during their face-to-face interaction. RP 

II at 599. Mr. Emerson wanted to sleep on the couch, but L.B. 
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pulled him to the bedroom, telling him not to be silly, they'd been 

in bed before. RP II at 603. 

Mr. Emerson then testified as follows with respect to the 

incident: 

Q All right. Let's just move forward to-to your 
and Ms. Binder getting into the-did you 
guys get into her bed at the same time? 

A Yes. Uh-huh. 

Q What were you wearing? 
A Uh, at that point, same thing as usual. Uh, 

shirt and boxers. 

Q And what was Ms. Binder wearing, if you can 
remember? 

A Uh, shirt and sweatpants. 
Q Okay. About what time do you recall you 

went to sleep that night? 
A Uh, probably fell asleep not too long after 

getting in bed and cleaning. Probably about­
approximately 2:30. 

Q Okay. 
A 2:45. 
Q Prior to falling asleep, was there any touching 

between you and Ms. Binder? 
A Uh, yeah. Uhm, when she brought me to the 

bed and, uhm, I-I unclothed and we laid 
down together, uh, we went into the cuddle 
position. We were spooning. Uhm, I had 
placed my, uh, left hand over her shirt, uhm, 
and I noticed that she only had a, uh-she 
only had one nipple ring on, and we were 
talking about that. Uh, she said that she got 
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them both pierced and that one had fell out, 
so she kept one. I asked why only the one. If 
they fell, why just both let them go. She said 
that she still liked it anyway. Uh, I then told 
her that I used-I had a piercing as well. I 
used to have my eyebrow and my lip pierced, 
and I know how it feels when a piercing falls 
out, 'cause my eyebrow one fell out before. 
Uhm, we had the laptop open, uhm, I think 
we were going to watch a movie, uhm, but she 
decided she was tired instead. And then I said 
I can go to sleep as well too, and then we went 
to sleep after that. 

Q What was the lighting like in the room? 
A Uh, it was pretty dark. We only had, uh, 

moonlight, basically, from her-

Q Just-
A -window. 
Q -moonlight? 
A Yeah. Uh-huh. A light from the window. 
Q Okay. And were you touching when you went 

to sleep? Were you and Ms. Binder touching 
when you fell off? 

A Uh, we were still spooning. We were still 
cuddling when we went to sleep. 

Q Okay. 
A Uh, she was laying-she was laying on my 

arm, and I had my left arm over her. 

Q Okay. What do you remember next? 
A Uhm, waking up not too long after. Uh, I felt 

as if she was kind of, uh, moving her pelvic 
area against mine. Uhm, basically trying to 
get me aroused, but I was-I was unable to. 
Uhm, I assumed something, uh, was going on. 
Uh, then I kissed-I was just, uh, kissing her 
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neck. 

Q Uh-huh. 
A Uh, she was moaning. Uhm, she was on my 

right arm. So, my left arm was on her-her 
hip, or her waist. Uh, I began to undress her. 
The-the sweatpants went down to about, 
like, mid-buttocks, or upper-upper thigh. 
We'd say [sic], that-that's where that would 
be. She then yelled, "No. Stop." Uhm, I then 
backed away from her. She was, like, what do 
you think you're doing? What-why do you 
think you can be inside of me? Uh, I told her, 
no, I-I wasn't inside of you. Uhm, I'm not 
understanding, like, what-what's going on. 

Q Uh-huh. 
A And she said, you need to get the fuck out of 

my house. Uh, you need to go right now. 
Uhm, I got up-I was laying by the window 
side, so I had to get-I had to go over her, or 
around her, uhm, to the foot of the bed. Uhm, 
I told her, I-I need to find my things. Can we 
talk about this? Like, what's-like, what­
why are-why are you so upset? Like, I 
thought it was a mutual thing. Uhm, based on 
how we woke up. Uh, then she yelled, like, 
you need to hurry up and go. She got up 
herself, and then went to, uh, Cassidy's room. 

See RP II 605-607 ( emphasis added). 

Mr. Emerson continued to look for his things and was 

distraught. RP II at 608. It was still dark� Mr. Emerson was 

looking for his pants and socks, and he was trying to pack up his 
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flight attendant roller bag. See id. Mr. Emerson went to the living 

room and waited; he was hoping L.B. would come out and talk 

about what happened. RP II at 609. Based on L.B. 's statements, 

she insinuated that Mr. Emerson was inside of her, but he knew 

that he wasn't. RP II at 609. Ms. Calwaystein came out of the 

room, sat by sink and said that he needed to go. See id. Mr. 

Emerson said that he wanted to talk to L.B.; Ms. Calwaystein 

said that she (L.B.) didn't want to talk because he just assaulted 

her. See id. Mr. Emerson apologized and asked Ms. Calwaystein 

to have L.B. call him. See id. Mr. Emerson clarified that he 

apologized for upsetting L.B. because it is common in his culture 

for someone to apologize - even if they haven't done anything -

to get on common ground. RP II at 609-10. 

Mr. Emerson was adamant on direct that he did not place 

his penis inside of L.B. 's body. RP II at 610. He also testified that 

no portion of his penis touched L.B. 's bare body, including her 

thigh. See id. 

Mr. Emerson left L.B. 's apartment about 4:00 am. See id. 
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He walked down to light rail station in international district. See 

id. He sent a text message to L.B. that he had got beat up and 

robbed. RP II at 611. Mr. Emerson testifed that he did this 

because he needed to get her to talk to him and thought she would 

feel sorry for him and talk to him. See id. 

L.B. messaged him back, but it was not what he expected. 

See id. Mr. Emerson also sent L.B. a message on Instagram, but 

she did not respond. RP II at 612. L.B.'s mother reached out to 

Mr. Emerson later that morning See id. She texted him that he 

raped her daughter� he described his text back to her as follows: 

"No. That's not how it went. That's not how things went down[.] 

[W]e've stayed the night together on multiple occasions at 

[L.B.'s] apartment. We've cuddled, but we never had sex." See 

id. 

On cross-exam, Mr. Emerson admitted that he lied when 

he sent the text message to L.B. about being robbed. RP II at 628. 

He also admitted to maintaining the lie when he was questioned 

about it by Det. Atkinson during his phone interview. RP II at 
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628-634 . 

In proposed instructions, defense counsel did not request 

an instruction on the "reasonable belief' statutory defense 

contained in RCW 9A.44 . 030(1)1
• See CP at 266-268. 

The jury returned a guilty verdict on the charged offense. 

CP at 282. Mr. Emerson was given an indeterminate sentence of 

84 months in prison on October 7, 2022. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Emerson's conviction 

in an unpublished opinion on March 11, 2024 . Mr. Emerson now 

seeks review by the Supreme Court 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 

ACCEPTED 

The Court of Appeals decision 1s m conflict with a 

published decision of the Court of Appeals. 

A defendant is deprived of the constitutional right to 

1 "It is a defense to a charge of rape in the second degree that the 

defendant reasonably believed the person was not mentally 

incapacitated. " See In re Pers. Restraint of Hubert, 138 Wn. App. 
924, 929 (2007) (citing RCW 9A.44 . 030(1)). 
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effective assistance of counsel if (1) counsel's performance was 

deficient and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the 

defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). 

"Where defense counsel fails to identify and present the 

sole available defense to the charged crime and there is evidence 

to support that defense, the defendant has been denied a fair 

trial." State v. Powell, 150 Wn. App. 139, 156 (2009) (citations 

omitted). "Where counsel in a criminal case fails to advance a 

defense authorized by statute, and there is evidence to support 

the defense, counsel's performance is deficient." Hubert, 138 

Wn. App. at 926. 

Like Mr. Emerson, the defendant in Powell was also 

convicted by jury of second-degree rape under RCW 

9A.44.050(l )(b) for engaging in sexual intercourse with another 

person when the victim was incapable of consent by reason of 

being physically helpless or mentally incapacitated. Powell, 150 

Wn.2d at 142. The defendant argued that he received ineffective 

assistance from his trial attorney, who failed to propose a jury 
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instruction on the "reasonable belief' defense, RCW 

9A.44.030(1 ). See id. Following Hubert, above, the Court of 

Appeals held that the lack of a "reasonable belief' instruction 

prejudiced the defendant's defense and reversed and remanded 

for a new trial. See id. 

Here, the application of Powell and Hubert could not be 

more straightforward. Both Mr. Emerson and L.B. testified that 

they went to bed in the "spooning" position. See CP 497, 606. 

Additionally, Mr. Emerson's testimony regarding L.B. moving 

her pelvic area against in order to get him aroused and L.B. 

moaning in response to him kissing her neck clearly supports the 

"reasonableness of [Mr. Emerson's] belief that [L.B.] was awake 

and capable of consenting to his advances." See, e.g., Huber, 138 

Wn. App. at 932 (emphasis added). However, defense counsel 

failed to propose the instruction that would have allowed the jury 

to use this information. See, e.g., 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury 

Instr. Crim. WPIC 19.03 (5th Ed). 
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As a result, "[t]he jury was unaware that if [Mr. Emerson] 

reasonably believed [L.B.] had capacity to consent, his belief 

constituted a defense to the charge. The jury thus had no way to 

understand the legal significance of the evidence supporting the 

reasonableness of [Mr. Emerson's] belief[.]" Huber, 138 Wn. 

App. at 932. 

Moreover, the "reasonable belief' defense was perfectly 

consistent with the "general denial" defense set forth by defense 

counsel during pretrial motions. See RP I at 20, 56. That is, there 

is no inconsistency in arguing that there was no sexual 

intercourse and also arguing that any touching that occurred 

(regardless of whether or not it was intercourse) was done under 

the belief that the other person was awake and capable of 

consenting to advances. 

Moreover, counsel's deficient performance greatly 

prejudiced Mr. Emerson because "[ w]ithout the 'reasonable 

belief' instruction, the jury had (1) no way to recognize and to 

weigh the legal significance of [Mr. Emerson's] testimony and 
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portions of defense counsel's closing argument that it appeared 

to [Mr. Emerson] that [L.B.] had consented; and (2) no way of 

acquitting [Mr. Emerson] even if it believed he had reasonably 

believed [L.B.] was not mentally incapacitated or physically 

helpless." See Powell, 150 Wn. App. at 156. 

Instead, the jury had "no option" but to convict if it found 

L.B. was mentally incapacitated or physically helpless, 

"regardless of whether it also found [Mr. Emerson] reasonably 

believed [L.B.] consented." See id. at 156-57. "The absence of 

this instruction essentially nullified [Mr. Emerson's] defense." 

See id. at 157. 

The Court of Appeals responded to the invocation of 

Hubert and Powell as follows: 

Emerson asserts that his conviction must be 
reversed. In so doing, he relies considerably on our 
decision in In re Personal Restraint of Hubert, 138 
Wn. App. 924, 158 P.3d 1282 (2007), and the 
decision of Division II of this court in State v. 
Powell, 150 Wn. App. 139, 206 P.3d 703, both of 
which reversed the criminal convictions appealed 
therein on the basis that, because the evidence 
presented at those trials might have supported a 
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defense theory predicated on the "reasonable belief' 
affirmative defense and the trial counsel therein did 
not pursue such a theory, the trial counsel therein 
rendered ineffective assistance. 150 Wn. App. at 
154-58; 138 Wn. App. at 929-32. 

In so relying on those decisions, Emerson argues 
that, because a litigation action was deemed 
necessary in one case, it is necessary in all cases. 
But this has always been wrong. 

In Strickland itself, Justice O'Connor, writing for 
the Court majority, detailed the necessity of judicial 
deference to attorney tactics and strategy, the 
imperativeness of utilizing an objective standard, 
and the mandate of the presumption of competent 
performance. 466 U.S. at 687-91. Several of the 
Justice's many trenchant observations are 
particularly important herein. 

No particular set of detailed rules for 
counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take 
account of the variety of circumstances faced 
by defense counsel or the range of legitimate 
decisions regarding how best to represent a 
criminal defendant. Any such set of rules 
would interfere with the constitutionally 
protected independence of counsel and 
restrict the wide latitude counsel must have in 
making tactical decisions . ... 

. . . There are countless ways to provide 
effective assistance in any given case. Even 
the best criminal defense attorneys would not 
defend a particular client in the same way. 
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Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688-89. 

Courts are part of the government. The Sixth 
Amendment does not allow the government to 
control the presentation of a criminal defense. 
Rather, the defendant is guaranteed an independent 
counsel-one free from government control. 
Therefore, courts, in evaluating the claims advanced 
to them, must honor this constitutionally guaranteed 
independence in announcing their rulings. 

See A-15-A-16. 

The Court of Appeals went on to conclude that defense 

counsel's strategy in pursuing only a theory of general denial and 

not additionally arguing an affirmative defense that Mr. Emerson 

had a reasonable belief that L.B. was not incapable of consenting 

due to physical helplessness "can be objectively viewed as 

conceivable and reasonable trial tactic[.]" See A-1. 

The Court of Appeals also concluded that regardless of the 

above, Mr. Emerson could not establish prejudice. For example, 

the Court of Appeals stated that "because the jury would only 

consider the affirmative defense after it had unanimously 

concluded that all elements of the State's case had been proved 
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beyond a reasonable doubt, [Mr. Emerson 's] counsel would then 

have needed to have convinced the jury that-nonetheless­

Emerson had himself proved by a preponderance of the evidence 

that L.B. 's testimony concerning her incapacity was most likely 

false and that his testimony on the subject was most likely true." 

See A-17. 

In finding that Emerson had committed the charged 
conduct, the jury plainly credited L.B.'s testimony 
over his testimony. In order for his affirmative 
defense to succeed, however, the jury would need to 
do the exact opposite. Such a result has not been 
shown to be anything but extremely unlikely. 

See A-20. 

The problem with the analysis employed by the Court of 

Appeals is that it fails to distinguish Powell and Hubert in any 

meaningful way. Rather, the Court of Appeals simply did not 

address them, characterizing Mr. Emerson's position as being 

"because a litigation action was deemed necessary in one case, it 

is necessary in all cases." See A-15. The Court of Appeals then 

declared, "But this has always been wrong." See id. 
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Additionally, the Court of Appeals is simply incorrect in 

presupposing that the affirmative defense's success depended on 

the jury finding Mr. Emerson more credible than L.B. This point 

is demonstrated by Powell itself: 

[T]he absence of a reasonable belief instruction 
meant that the jury had only one option if the State 
met its burden of proof: It had to convict Powell 
even if it also believed that Powell had established 
by a preponderance of the evidence that he 
reasonably believed that PLM was not mentally 
incapacitated and/or physically helpless. Limiting 
the jury's options in this way was not only not a 
reasonable tactical decision, it was prejudicial. 

See Powell, 150 Wn. App. at 157, note 12 (emphasis added). 

Indeed, the rest of footnote 12 in Powell speaks directly to 

the Court of Appeals erroneous ruling on prejudice in this case: 

Nor does the State's argument-that there was no 
prejudice because "the jury clearly did not accept 
his theory that [PLM] was not incapacitated"­
demonstrate that there was no prejudice. Br. of 
Resp't at 15. All we can tell from the jury's verdict 
is that it believed that PLM was either too mentally 
incapacitated to understand the nature or 
consequences of the sexual acts or that she was 
unconscious or otherwise physically unable to 
communicate her unwillingness to participate in 
the sexual act. Because the t:rial court did not 
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instruct the jury on the "reasonable belief" 

defense, the jury did not have the option of 

evaluating the events of that night from Powell's 

subjective perspective. 

See id. 

By not following Hubert and Powell, the Court of Appeals 

committed error requiring reversal. 

F. CONCLUSION 

Because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with 

Hubert and Powell above, Mr. Emerson respectfully requests that 

this Court accept review and reverse the decision of the Court of 

Appeals affirming his conviction for Rape in the Third Degree. 

In compliance with RAP 18. 17(b ), I certify this document 

contains 4,998 words, exclusive of words exempted by the rule. 

Dated: April 9, 2024 . 

By s/Joseph 0. Baker 
Joseph 0. Baker, WSBA# 32203 

Attorneys for Petitioner 

Law Offices of Gehrke, Baker, 

Doull & Kelly, PLLC 

22030 7th Ave S, Suite 202 

Des Moines, WA 98198 

Tel. 206. 878.4100 
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Court of Appeals 
D iv ision I 

State of Wash ington 

I N  TH E COU RT OF APPEALS OF TH E STATE OF WASH I NGTON 

STATE OF WAS H I NGTON , 

Respondent ,  

V .  

ALEXAN DER M.  EM ERSO N ,  

Appel lant .  

D IVIS ION ONE  

No .  84576-4- 1  

U N PU BL ISHED O P I N ION 

DWYER, J .  - Alexander Emerson appeals from the j udgment entered on a 

j u ry's verd ict convicti ng h im  of one count of rape in  the second deg ree . On 

appea l ,  Emerson asserts that h is tria l  counsel d id not render effective ass istance 

because , i n  pu rsu ing a theory of general  den ia l , h is  counsel d id  not add it iona l ly 

argue an affi rmative defense that he had a reasonable bel ief that the a l leged 

vict im was not i ncapable of consenti ng d ue to phys ical he lp lessness . We 

conclude that defense counse l 's strategy can be objective ly viewed as a 

conceivable and reasonable tria l  tact ic and that, even if such strategy was shown 

to be defic ient ,  which we do not ho ld , no prejud ice is shown to have resu lted to 

Emerson from the employment of th is strategy . Accord i ng ly ,  we affi rm .  
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The State charged Emerson with one count of rape in  the second deg ree , 

a l leg i ng that he had engaged " i n  sexua l  i ntercourse with another person named 

L . B ) 1 l u nder c i rcumstances where L . B .  was i ncapable of consenti ng to sexua l  

i ntercourse by reason of be ing phys ica l ly he lp less . "2 Emerson den ied the 

charge .  A j u ry tria l  ensued . 

The State , i n  its open ing statement, to ld the j u ry that Emerson had th rust 

h is penis i nto L . B . 's vag ina wh i le she was sleep ing and that the forthcoming 

test imony of  several witnesses ( incl ud i ng L . B . ,  other witnesses who she to ld 

about the i ncident ,  and severa l po l ice officers) and certa i n  text messages wou ld 

prove that such conduct had occu rred . Defense counsel stated that the a l leged 

rape d id not occu r and that the evidence presented at tria l  wou ld instead create a 

reasonable doubt as to the occu rrence of such cond uct. 

The fo l lowing test imony and exh ib its were presented to the j u ry du ring the 

parties' cases i n  ch ief. 

I n  March 20 1 9 , L . B .  was i ntroduced to Emerson by her mother because 

he was a mutual acquai ntance of L . B . 's mother, he was movi ng to Seattle , and 

L . B .  was a l ready l iv ing there at the t ime. 

Between March and May 20 1 9 , L . B .  and Emerson met i n  person on at 

least th ree d ifferent occas ions .  L . B .  testified that, d u ring that time ,  she d id not 

have any romantic fee l i ngs for Emerson , she d id not be l ieve her re lationsh ip  with 

1 We use the i n it ia ls L . B .  to refer to the a l leged adu lt vict im i n  th is matter. 
2 RCW 9A.44 . 050( 1 ) (b) .  
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Emerson was flirtatious, and she repeatedly told him that she was not interested 

in an intimate or exclusive relationship with him. Emerson testified that, during 

that time, he and L .B .  were just friends but they had flirted with each other, and 

that, if L .B .  wanted a sexual relationship with h im,  he would have reciprocated . 

In  late March 201 9, L .B .  and Emerson met in person for the first time at a 

bar near where L .B .  lived at the time. They sat together for drinks and chatted 

and, later on ,  L .B .  invited Emerson to her apartment to look at her living space as 

well as some art that she had created.  While in that apartment, they had talked 

about possible career paths, including Emerson's work as a massage therapist 

and L .B . 's interest in such a career. They then demonstrated massage 

techniques on one another, on the floor of her bedroom and on her bed . 

Emerson testified that, on that night, he stayed overnight and that L .B .  had 

insisted that he sleep in her bed with her. He testified that L .B .  told him "that it 

was okay for me to sleep with her in the bed, that we'd have boundaries," that he 

would sleep on one side of the bed while she slept on the other side, and that 

she made a divider on the bed with a blanket and pil lows. He also testified that, 

during the night, he got up to use the bathroom and that, when he returned to the 

bed , the barrier was gone, and, after he laid down, L .B .  grabbed his arm and put 

it around her body so that they were "cuddl ing." 

L.B. testified that she recalled that Emerson had stayed overnight at that 

apartment but did not recall whether it was on the first night they met in person.  

She nevertheless testified that, when he first stayed overnight, they had been 

"hanging out" late into the evening, and she invited him to sleep over so that he 
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d id not have to walk  home alone late at n ight .  L . B .  testified that she invited h im 

to  sleep i n  he r  bed with h im ,  she  asked that they both stay on the i r  own s ides of 

the bed , they went to sleep i n  her bed , and no sexua l  conduct occu rred between 

them . 

Shortly thereafter, L . B .  moved i nto a two-bed room apartment with a friend 

of hers .  

I n  early May 20 1 9 , L . B .  i nvited Emerson to  see her  new apartment and , 

wh i le there ,  he met her roommate . Emerson testified that L . B .  i nvited h im to stay 

over that n ight and sleep in her bed with her and they fe l l  asleep "j ust cudd l i ng  

l i ke [they] d id the fi rst t ime" i n  the "spoon ing"  posit ion . For  her part ,  L . B .  testified 

that, on that occas ion , Emerson d id not spend the n ight .  3 

On May 4 ,  20 1 9 , L . B .  and Emerson aga in  met i n  person at L . B . 's new 

apartment. They d rank a lcohol  and ate p izza wh i le L . B .  was pai nt ing a mu ral  on 

her bed room wal l .  L . B . 's roommate later jo i ned them . L . B .  testified that, d u ring 

that even ing , she saw Emerson and her roommate chatti ng , "a lmost cudd l i ng a 

l itt le b it" with each other wh i le she was pa inting . Emerson testified that, wh i le 

L . B .  was pa inti ng , he and L . B . 's roommate "made out a l itt le , "  and when L . B . 's 

roommate went to bed , he "gave her a hug" and "a kiss on the s ide of her neck , "  

and  that he d id not reca l l  he r  reco i l i ng from h im .  

L . B . 's former roommate testified that, on that n ight ,  she  came home late 

and saw L . B .  and Emerson hang ing out i n  the apartment. She testified that she 

3 L . B . 's roommate testified that she d id not  know whether Emerson stayed overn ight  on 
that occasion . 

4 



No. 84576-4-1/5 

noticed that L .B .  had "noticeable signs that she had drinken [sic] more than she 

usually would," and that Emerson was "pretty intoxicated,"  made "belligerent" 

comments about women, and kept on touching his body against hers while L .B .  

was painting. She testified that her  impression was that Emerson had touched 

her with a sexual intention. She further testified that, when she stated that she 

was going to bed, Emerson hugged her, she hugged him back, and then he "kind 

of latched on to my neck and started kissing my neck," and she shoved him 

away. She testified that she then went to bed and fe ll asleep. 

L .B .  testified that, after her roommate went to bed, she and Emerson 

"hung out and talked for a while" and then she told him 

I 'm going to go to bed . Uh, you can stay if you want, uhm, 
because, you know, I trusted him and,  like , we were able to 
platonically sleep in a bed ,  and I had reiterated to him that, l ike, you 
know, these are my boundaries. And then, uhm, we went to bed . 

Emerson testified that, after L .B . 's roommate went to bed ,  L .B .  invited him 

to sleep in her bed ,  he told her he wanted to sleep on the couch, and she insisted 

that he sleep in her bed with her. He testified that he was wearing a shirt and 

boxers, and they both testified that L .B .  was wearing a shirt and sweatpants. 

Prior to fa l l ing asleep, they were in a "cuddle" position and were 

"spooning." L .B .  testified that they "maybe cuddle[d] a little bit," and that she told 

h im,  " I 'm not interested in you like that," but it was "normal for me to, like , cuddle 

friends" because she had friends in college that she could trust "with your 

boundaries after you express them ."  L .B .  also testified that, prior to fa l l ing asleep 

in the "spooning" position ,  Emerson's right arm was on her hip, and she fe lt 
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comfortable in that position. She testified that she fe ll asleep pretty much right 

away. 

Emerson testified that, prior to fa l l ing asleep, he and L .B .  chatted about 

body piercings, considered watching a movie, but then went to sleep. Emerson 

testified that, when they fe ll asleep, they were still cuddl ing, she was laying on his 

arm, and he had his left arm over her. 

L .B .  testified that the next thing she remembered was awakening to the 

feeling of someone on top of her and that she saw that 

Emerson was on top of me, and my, uh ,  sweatpants were down. 
And, uhm, sorry to get graphic, but, uhm, uh ,  there was penetration. 
His-but, you know, when you're not aroused, it's kind of l ike-it's 
in ,  but it's having a hard time getting fu lly in .  So, it was erect, but 
not, l ike, super-duper hard, I think. It was just mostly me being dry. 
Uhm,  and there was thrusting movement. And I froze for a second. 
Then I shoved h im off immediately. And then he, like , took my 
shoulder, pressed me back down, and tried to , l ike, pull at my pants 
again, and then, uh-and then, uh ,  I shoved him off again. And I 
yelled at him, like , what the fuck are you doing? And, uhm, he kind 
of just [inaudible] to himself because I made him get off the bed. 
Uhm,  I 'm pretty sure he stumbled a little bit, and then ,  l ike ,  I kind of 
just said-I just, l ike ,  yelled at him briefly. 

She testified that it was stil l dark outside and that she was not sure how long she 

had been asleep before she woke up. 

Emerson, testified that, after fa l l ing asleep, he remembered 

waking up not too long after. Uh,  I felt as if she was kind of, uh ,  
moving her pelvic area against mine. Uhm,  basically trying to get 
me aroused, but I was-I was unable to . Uhm, I assumed 
something, uh ,  was going on.  Uh,  then I kissed-I was just, uh ,  
kissing her neck . . . .  Uh ,  she was moaning. Uhm, she was on my 
right arm. So, my left arm was on her-her hip, or her waist. Uh,  I 
began to undress her. The-the sweatpants went down to about, 
l ike ,  mid-buttocks, or upper-upper thigh. We'd say [sic], that­
that's where that would be. She then yelled, "No. Stop." Uhm, I 
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then backed away from her. She was, like , what do you think 
you're doing? What-why do you think you can be inside of me? 
Uh ,  I told her, no, 1-1 wasn't inside of you.  Uhm, I 'm not 
understanding, l ike ,  what-what's going on.  . . . And she said, you 
need to get the fuck out of my house. Uh,  you need to go right 
now. Uhm, I got up-I was laying by the window side, so I had to 
get-I had to go over her, or around her, uhm, to the foot of the 
bed . Uhm, I told her, 1-1 need to find my things. Can we talk 
about this? Like, what's-l ike, what-why are-why are you so 
upset? Like, I thought it was a mutual thing. Uhm,  based on how 
we woke up. 

They both testified that L.B. went immediately into her roommate's bedroom. 

L .B . 's former roommate testified that she was awakened that night by L .B .  

entering her  bedroom and that she saw that L .B .  was shaking and crying, that 

her eyes were watering, and that L .B .  told her that "she had fa llen asleep, woken 

up, and [Emerson]-when she woke up, [Emerson] was on top of her and inside 

of her." L .B .  testified that, when she woke up her roommate, she told her what 

happened while crying, panicking, and hyperventilating. Both L .B .  and her 

roommate asked Emerson to leave. He did.  

A series of text messages, time-stamped around 4:00 a .m .  on May 5,  

201 9, admitted as an exhibit at  trial, reads as fo llows: 

EMERSON: I got beat up and robbed. It was probably for 
the best. I really don't know what happened between us. Please 
enjoy your life. Thanks for being a friend. 

L .B . :  You're a fucking disgusting being. Never contact me 
again. I hope you never put another person through what you put 
me through. Blocked. 

EMERSON: I am and I apologize. I should stop drinking al l  
together. Never meant any harm. 

Regarding that text message, Emerson testified he did not, in actuality, get 

"beat up and robbed," and that he had said as much because he "needed to get 

her to talk to me. Uhm, she's the only person that I knew. I had no one else to 
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talk to." He testified that he thought that "maybe she'd feel sorry and actually 

communicate with me." 

After Emerson left the apartment, L .B .'s roommate testified, she tried to 

comfort L .B .  and "erase as much of the interaction as possible ," washing L. B. 's 

bedding and clothes, including the sweatpants that she was wearing. L .B. 

testified that she had called her mother several t imes but that her mother did not 

answer the telephone. 

L .B . 's mother testified that, by the time she had located her telephone on 

the morning in question, she saw that she had missed several calls from her 

daughter. L .B .  testified that she successfully spoke to her mother that morning. 

Her mother testified that L .B.  sounded very upset and was crying. She 

recommended that L .B .  call 91 1 ,  which L .B .  did. 

Shortly thereafter, L .B .'s mother testified , she sent a text message to 

Emerson. An exhibit of that text message exchange admitted at trial read as 

fo llows: 

[L .B . 'S MOTHER:]  You raped my daughter? . . .  

[EMERSON:]  No, no, that's not how it went down. I 'm so sorry. I 
been sleeping over a couple nights, and last night we were drinking 
a lot. I'm not sure what fu lly happened . . . .  She said to stop, and 
we were doing what we were doing, and I did. She told me I 
needed to leave, and I d id.  We did not have sex. 

Later that morning, two police officers interviewed L .B .  and her roommate. 

One officer testified that, in interviewing L .B . ,  she appeared agitated, she 

perhaps had been crying, and she was upset. The other officer testified that he 

had collected the sweatpants that L .B .  said that she was wearing that night. A 
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forens ic scientist testified that she tested and examined L . B . 's sweatpants ,  that 

the resu lts were negative , and that she concluded that there was no ind icat ion of 

semen or sal iva on the sweatpants .  

After the officers subm itted the i r  report ,  a pol ice detective began to 

i nvestigate L . B . 's a l legations .  He i nterviewed L . B .  in person for about 90 

m i nutes , co l lected text message conversat ions ,  spoke to L . B .  's roommate and 

her mother, and also spoke with Emerson over the te lephone for one hour. 

Du ring h is i nterview with the detective , Emerson testified , he said that he 

was sexua l ly i nterested i n  L . B .  Emerson a lso testified that he had l ied to the 

detective about gett ing beaten up and robbed and that he had provided the 

detective with a fict ional location , assau lt , and l ist of sto len items, as wel l  as a 

fictiona l  description of the perpetrator's height , sk in co lor ,  ha i r  color and style , 

and body shape.  I n  response to the fo l lowing question posed by the State , "You 

don 't th i nk  that you gave [the detective] a detai led description of a complete ly 

fa lse a l legation over the cou rse of th is i nterview?" ,  Emerson responded , "Over 

the cou rse of t ime with thoughts i n  between ,  1-1 d i d ,  yes . "  

After both parties had rested , the cou rt read the fo l lowing i nstruct ions ,  i n  

perti nent part ,  to the j u ry :  

COU RT'S INSTRUCTION NO. 3 

The defendant has entered a p lea of not gu i lty . That p lea puts i n  
issue every e lement of each crime charged . The State is the 
p la i ntiff and has the burden of provi ng each element of the crime 
beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant has no bu rden of 
provi ng that a reasonable doubt exists as to these elements . 

9 
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A defendant is presumed i nnocent. Th is presumption conti n ues 
th roughout the enti re tria l  u n less du ring your  de l iberations you fi nd 
it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt. 

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise 
from the evidence or lack of evidence .  It is such a doubt as wou ld 
exist i n  the m i nd of a reasonable person after fu l ly ,  fa i rly, and 
carefu l ly consider ing a l l  of the evidence or  lack of evidence .  If, 
from such consideration , you have an abid ing bel ief in the truth of 
the charge ,  you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt .  

COU RT'S INSTRUCTION NO. 6 

A person comm its the crime of Rape i n  the Second Deg ree when 
he or she engages i n  sexual i ntercourse with another person when 
the other person is i ncapable of consent by reason of be ing 
phys ica l ly he lp less . 

COU RT'S INSTRUCTION NO. 7 

To convict the Defendant of the crime of Rape i n  the Second 
Deg ree , each of the fo l lowing th ree elements of the crime must be 
proved beyond a reasonable doubt: 

( 1 ) That between May 4, 20 1 9  and May 5, 20 1 9 , the 
defendant Alexander Emerson engaged in sexual 
i ntercourse with [L . B . ] ;  

(2) That the sexual i ntercou rse occu rred when [L . B . ]  was 
incapable of consent by reason of being phys ica l ly 
he lp less ; and 

(3) That th is act occurred i n  the State of Wash i ngton .  

I f  you fi nd from the evidence that elements ( 1 ) ,  (2) , and  (3) have 
been proved beyond a reasonable doubt ,  then it wi l l  be you r  duty to 
retu rn a verd ict of gu i lty . 

On the other hand , if, after weigh i ng a l l  the evidence ,  you have a 
reasonable doubt as to any one of these e lements ,  then it wi l l  be 
you r  d uty to retu rn a verd ict of not gu i lty . 
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COU RT'S INSTRUCTION NO. 8 

"Sexua l  i ntercou rse" means that the sexua l  organ of the male 
entered and penetrated the sexua l  organ of the female and occu rs 
upon any penetration ,  however s l i ght or any penetrat ion of the 
vag ina or anus however s l i ght ,  by an object , i ncl ud i ng a body part , 
when comm itted on one person by another, whether such persons 
are of the same or oppos ite sex. 

COU RT'S INSTRUCTION NO. 9 

"Consent" means that at the t ime of the act of sexua l  i ntercourse 
there are actual  words or conduct ind icati ng freely g iven ag reement 
to have sexua l  i ntercourse. 

COU RT'S INSTRUCTION NO. 1 0  

A person is phys ica l ly he lp less when the person is unconscious or 
for any other reason is phys ica l ly unable to commun icate 
unwi l l i ngness to an act. 

I n  clos ing argument, the State u rged the j u ry to fi nd Emerson gu i lty of rape 

in the second deg ree . The State argued that each of the elements of the 

charged crime were met because the evidence demonstrated that, on the n ight in 

question , Emerson had th rust his pen is i nto L . B . 's vag ina wh i le she was sleep ing . 

The State argued that L . B .  was a cred ib le witness because she had no 

motivat ion to fabricate a rape a l legation , she was not b iased aga inst Emerson , 

and she had been consistent i n  her recount ing of the events on the n ight i n  

question . The State also argued that Emerson was not a cred ib le witness 

because he had l ied to not on ly L . B .  but a lso a po l ice detective about be ing 

robbed and assau lted i n  the early morn i ng after the a l leged incident .  

Defense counsel argued in clos ing that the State had fa i led to meet its 

bu rden of proof as to two out of the th ree elements of the rape charge .  Defense 

counsel fi rst argued that the j u ry shou ld fi nd that a reasonable doubt existed as 
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to whether the State had estab l ished that Emerson 's  pen is had penetrated L . B . ' s  

vag ina .  Such a doubt existed , accord ing to  defense counse l ,  because 

incons istencies i n  L . B . 's test imony reflected that she had made up  the notion that 

she had been penetrated , wh i le Emerson testified that such penetrat ion d id not 

happen and test ing done on the sweatpants i n  question revealed no DNA, body 

fl u id ,  or  other evidence connected to Emerson .  Defense counsel also argued 

that a reasonable doubt existed as to whether L . B .  was phys ica l ly i ncapable of 

consenti ng on the basis of her being asleep because the State 's pr imary 

evidence i n  support of such incapacity was L . B . 's test imony but ,  accord ing to 

defense counse l ,  L . B .  had actua l ly fictional ized the occu rrence of the rape 

because she wanted the attent ion of others ,  i ncl ud i ng her roommate at the t ime . 

The j u ry retu rned a verd ict convicti ng Emerson as charged . 

Emerson now appeals .  

I I  

Emerson asserts that h is tria l  counse l 's  performance was deficient 

because h is attorney did not argue both a general  den ia l  defense and the 

" reasonable be l ief' statutory affi rmative defense to rape in  the second deg ree . 

Emerson also asserts that such pu rported ly defic ient performance prejud iced 

h im .  As to both assertions ,  Emerson 's  c la im fa i l s .  

I n  order to  succeed on an i neffective ass istance of  counsel cla im , a 

defendant must show that ( 1 ) the defense attorney's performance was deficient 

and (2) the defendant was prejud iced by that deficient performance .  In re Det. of 

Hatfie ld , 1 9 1 Wn . App .  378 , 40 1 , 362 P . 3d 997 (20 1 5) (quoti ng State v. 
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Borshe im , 1 40 Wn . App .  357 , 376 , 1 65 P . 3d 4 1 7 (2007)) . "Defic ient performance 

is that which fa l ls  below an objective standard of reasonableness . "  State v .  

Weavi l le ,  1 62 Wn . App .  80 1 , 823 , 256 P . 3d 426 (20 1 1 ) . We presume adequate 

representat ion when there is any " 'conce ivable leg itimate tactic"' that exp la ins 

counse l 's performance .  Hatfie ld , 1 9 1 Wn . App .  at  402 (quot ing State v .  

Re ichenbach , 1 53 Wn .2d 1 26 ,  1 30 ,  1 0 1 P . 3d 80 (2004)) .  "Prej ud ice occu rs 

where there is a reasonable probab i l ity that ,  but for the defic ient performance ,  

t he  outcome of  the proceed ings wou ld have been d ifferent . " Weavi l le ,  1 62 Wn . 

App .  at 823 (citi ng State v. McFarland , 1 27 Wn .2d 322 , 335 ,  899 P .2d 1 25 1  

( 1 995)) . "Competency of counsel i s  determ ined based upon the enti re record 

below. "  McFarland , 1 27 Wn .2d at 335 (citi ng State v. White ,  8 1  Wn .2d 223 ,  225 ,  

500 P .2d 1 242 ( 1 972) ) .  

Here ,  Emerson asserts that, based on the  evidence presented at  tria l , h is 

counse l 's decis ion to not also argue the " reasonable be l ief" statutory affi rmative 

defense was both deficient and prejud icia l .  

The  " reasonable bel ief' statutory affi rmative defense reads as  fo l lows : 

I n  any prosecution under th is chapter i n  which lack of consent is 
based sole ly upon the victim 's  menta l  i ncapacity or  upon the 
victim 's being phys ica l ly he lp less , it is a defense which the 
defendant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that at 
the t ime of the offense the defendant reasonably bel ieved that the 
vict im was not menta l ly i ncapacitated and/or phys ica l ly he lp less . 

RCW 9A.44 . 030( 1 ) .4 However, p rior to a j u ry consider ing such an affi rmative 

defense , " [t] he j u ry wou ld have had to fi nd that the State had met its bu rden and 

4 The Wash ington Pattern J u ry I nstruct ions for the " reasonable bel ief' affi rmative defense 
reads as fo l lows : 
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proved every e lement of the rape charge beyond a reasonable doubt . "  State v .  

Powe l l ,  1 50 Wn . App .  1 39 ,  1 57 n . 1 2 , 206  P . 3d 703  (2009) . Th i s  is so  because 

that affi rmative defense does not negate an element of the crime of rape in  the 

second deg ree but , rather ,  on ly excuses the underlyi ng conduct .  See RCW 

9A.44 . 030( 1 ) ,  . 050(1 ) (b) ; State v .  R iker ,  1 23 Wn .2d 35 1 , 368 , 869 P .2d 43 ( 1 994) 

(citi ng State v .  Rice ,  1 02 Wn .2d 1 20 ,  1 24-26 ,  683 P .2d 1 99 ( 1 984) ; State v .  Box, 

1 09 Wn .2d 320 ,  323-30 , 745 P .2d 23 ( 1 987)) . Fu rthermore ,  it is a wel l­

estab l ished presumption that the j u ry fo l lows both the law and the court's 

instructions .  State v .  Ervi n ,  1 58 Wn .2d 746 , 756 , 1 47 P . 3d 567 (2006) (citi ng 

State v .  Ste i n ,  1 44 Wn .2d 236 ,  247 , 27  P . 3d 1 84 (200 1 )) .  I ndeed , i n  a case 

i nvo lvi ng a c la im of i neffective ass istance of counsel , 

[ i ]n  making the determ i nation whether the specified errors resu lted 
in the requ i red prej ud ice ,  a cou rt shou ld presume . . .  that the j udge 
or j u ry acted accord i ng to law. An assessment of the l i ke l i hood of a 
resu lt more favorab le to the defendant must excl ude the poss ib i l ity 
of arb itrari ness , wh imsy, caprice ,  " nu l l ification , "  and the l i ke .  A 
defendant has no entit lement to the luck of a lawless 
decis ionmaker, even if a lawless decis ion cannot be reviewed . The 
assessment of prej ud ice shou ld proceed on the assumption that the 
decis ionmaker is reasonab ly ,  conscientious ly, and impartia l ly 
app ly ing the standards that govern the decis ion .  

I t  i s  a defense to a charge of [ rape i n  the second degree] [ i ndecent 
l i berties] that at the time of the acts the defendant reasonably be l ieved that 
(name of person)  was not [menta l ly defective] [or] [menta l ly  i ncapacitated] [or] 
[phys ica l ly he lp less] . 

The defendant has the burden of prov ing th is defense by a 
preponderance of the evidence .  Preponderance of the evidence means that you 
must be persuaded , consider ing al l  the evidence in the case, that it is more 
probably true than not true .  If you fi nd that the defendant has estab l ished th is 
defense, i t wi l l  be you r  duty to return a verd ict of not gu i lty [as to th is charge] .  

1 1  WASHI NGTON PRACTICE:  WASHI NGTON PATTERN J U RY I NSTRUCTIONS:  CRIM INAL 1 9 . 03 {5th ed . 
202 1 ) .  
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Strickland v. Wash ington ,  466 U .S .  668,  694-95 ,  1 04 S .  Ct. 2052 , 80  L .  Ed . 2d 

674 ( 1 984) . 

A 

Emerson asserts that h is convict ion must be reversed . I n  so do ing , he 

re l ies considerab ly on our decis ion i n  In re Personal Restra int of H ubert ,  1 38 Wn . 

App .  924 , 1 58 P . 3d 1 282 (2007) , and the decis ion of D iv is ion I I  of th is cou rt i n  

State v .  Powe l l ,  1 50 Wn . App .  1 39 ,  both of wh ich reversed the crim ina l  

convictions appealed there in  on the basis that, because the evidence presented 

at those tria ls m ight have supported a defense theory pred icated on the 

" reasonable be l ief' affi rmative defense and the tr ial counsel there in  d id not 

pu rsue such a theory, the tria l  counsel there in  rendered i neffective ass istance .  

1 50 Wn . App .  at 1 54-58 ; 1 38 Wn . App .  at 929-32 . 

I n  so re lyi ng on those decis ions , Emerson argues that, because a l it igation 

act ion was deemed necessary i n  one case , it is necessary i n  a l l  cases . But th is 

has a lways been wrong . 

I n  Strickland itse lf, J ust ice O'Connor ,  writi ng for the Court majority ,  

deta i led the necess ity of jud ic ia l  deference to attorney tactics and strategy, the 

imperativeness of uti l iz ing an objective standard ,  and the mandate of the 

presumption of competent performance .  466 U . S .  at 687-9 1 . Severa l of the 

J ustice's many trenchant observat ions are part icu larly important herei n .  

No particu lar  set of deta i led ru les for counse l 's  conduct can 
satisfactori ly take account of the variety of ci rcumstances faced by 
defense counsel or  the range of leg itimate decis ions regard i ng how 
best to represent a crim ina l  defendant. Any such set of ru les wou ld 
i nterfere with the constitutiona l ly p rotected i ndependence of 
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counsel and restrict the wide latitude counsel must have i n  making 
tactical decis ions . . . .  

. . . There are countless ways to provide effective ass istance i n  any 
g iven case . Even the best crim ina l  defense attorneys wou ld not 
defend a particu lar cl ient i n  the same way. 

Strickland , 466 U . S .  at 688-89 . 

Courts are part of the government .  The S ixth Amendment does not a l low 

the government to control the presentat ion of a crim ina l  defense. Rather, the 

defendant is guaranteed an independent counsel-one free from government 

contro l .  Therefore ,  cou rts , i n  eva luat ing the c la ims advanced to them , must 

honor th is constitutiona l ly guaranteed i ndependence in announcing the i r  ru l i ngs .  

Here ,  Emerson 's defense was den ia l : he steadfastly den ied that h is pen is 

penetrated L . B . 's vag ina .  He also testified that L . B . 's movements and the 

sounds she made were ind icative of both her consent to h is touch ing and her 

capacity to do so . 

L . B .  testified d ifferently. She asserted that penetrat ion d id occu r. She 

fu rther testified that she was incapable of consent at that t ime.  

Emerson's defense was centered on one goa l :  creati ng a doubt as to the 

State's proof, based as it was on L . B . 's test imony. I f  a doubt cou ld be ra ised , the 

j u ry wou ld acqu it Emerson based on the State 's fa i l u re to prove the elements of 

the charged offense . 

On appea l ,  Emerson asserts that the S ixth Amendment declares that the 

presentat ion of such a defense is constitutiona l ly fau lty . I nstead , Emerson 

a l leges , the constitut ion mandated a s ing le  and d ifferent approach . 

1 6  
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According to Emerson, the Sixth Amendment required defense counsel to 

defend in the alternative. Pointing out that this is allowed, Emerson contends 

that it is constitutionally required. 

In  Emerson's view, the only constitutionally compliant approach to 

defending his case was to combine his denial defense with an assertion of the 

affi rmative defense that he reasonably believed that L .B .  was capable of consent. 

To Emerson, it was necessary for his attorney to argue his denial defense, as 

was done. But it was also constitutionally required for his counsel to argue the 

fo llowing: if the jury unanimously found beyond a reasonable doubt that the State 

had proved al l  elements of the charge (thus plainly not crediting Emerson's 

testimony regarding the absence of penetration and not viewing his testimony as 

even creating a doubt as to that or any other element), the attorney should then 

have argued that Emerson nevertheless had proved by a preponderance of the 

evidence that L .B . ,  despite her testimony to the contrary, had through actions 

and sounds, created in Emerson the reasonable belief that she was capable of 

consent. Moreover, because the jury would only consider the affirmative defense 

after it had unanimously concluded that al l  elements of the State 's case had been 

proved beyond a reasonable doubt, his counsel would then have needed to have 

convinced the jury that-nonetheless-Emerson had himself proved by a 

preponderance of the evidence that L .B . 's testimony concerning her incapacity 

was most likely false and that his testimony on the subject was most l ikely true. 

We disagree that the attorney had such a mandatory duty. Many competent 

attorneys might consider this an unl ikely result and a risk not worth taking given 
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the foreseeable poss ib i l ity of such an advancement of a lternative defenses 

undercutt ing the more hopefu l den ia l  defense. 

Importantly, the denia l  defense cou ld succeed if the j u ry had on ly a doubt 

about an element of the charged crime .  But Emerson wou ld have the bu rden of 

proof on h is affi rmative defense. Th is wou ld h i gh l ig ht whether h is test imony was 

proved more l i kely true than not true and r isk taking the focus off of what the 

den ia l  defense ca l led for : a focus on whether the j u ry had a doubt as to the 

strength of the State's case and the accu racy of L . B . 's test imony. 

In the end , it is p la in that ,  at a m i n imum ,  a competent attorney cou ld 

conceivab ly choose either strategy and adopt tactics conform ing with that choice .  

Strickland a l lows the attorney to exercise th is independent judgment and 

commands that such judgment be presumed competent .  5 On th is record , 

Emerson fa i ls  to show deficient performance .  6 

B 

Emerson next asserts that h is tria l  counse l 's  decis ion to not pursue both a 

genera l  den ia l  defense and the " reasonab le be l ief" affi rmative defense prej ud iced 

h im .  We d isag ree . 

5 As Justice O'Connor i nstructed , " [m]ost important, i n  adjud icat ing a c la im of actual 
i neffectiveness of counse l ,  a cou rt should keep in  mind that the princ i p les we have stated do not 
estab l ish mechan ical ru les . "  Strickland ,  466 U . S .  at 696. I ndeed , " [t] he  object of an 
i neffectiveness claim is not to g rade cou nsel 's performance. . . . Courts shou ld strive to ensure 
that i neffectiveness cla ims not become so burdensome to defense cou nsel that the ent ire crim i na l  
j ustice system suffers as a resu lt . "  Strickland ,  466 U . S .  at  697 .  

6 Emerson a lso re l ies on State v. F isher, 1 85 Wn.2d 836, 374 P . 3d 1 1 85 (20 1 6) ,  and 
State v .  Buzze l l ,  1 48 Wn . App. 592 , 200  P . 3d 287  (2009) , to support h is  assertion o f  i neffective 
assistance of counse l .  However, the ana lysis that Emerson re l ies on in F isher and Buzze l l  d id  
not  regard i neffective assistance of  counsel bu t ,  rather, regarded a tria l  cou rt's den ia l  of  a 
defendant's request to instruct the j u ry on a certa i n  affi rmative defense. 1 85 Wn .2d at 851 -52 ; 
1 48 Wn . App. at 598-600 .  The legal standard ,  actors i nvolved ,  and underly ing pri ncip les are not 
the same. Thus ,  Emerson's re l iance on such authority is unavai l i ng .  

1 8  
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To estab l ish prejud ice ,  a defendant must show that " 'there is a reasonable 

probab i l ity that , but for counse l 's  unp rofess ional  errors ,  the resu lt of the 

proceed ing wou ld have been d ifferent. "' State v .  Thomas , 1 09 Wn .2d 222 , 226 , 

743 P .2d 8 1 6  ( 1 987) (quoti ng Strickland , 466 U . S .  at 694) ; see also Weavi l le ,  

1 62 Wn . App .  at  823 (cit ing McFarland , 1 27 Wn .2d at  335) . 

"A reasonable p robab i l ity is a probab i l ity sufficient to underm ine 
confidence i n  the outcome . "  Strickland , 466 U . S .  at 694 ;  Thomas , 
1 09 Wn .2d at 226 ; [State v. ]Garrett , 1 24 Wn .2d [504 , 1 5 1 9[ ,  88 1 
P . 2d 1 85 ( 1 994)] .  I n  assess ing prejud ice ,  "a cou rt shou ld presume,  
absent chal lenge to the judgment on g rounds of evident iary 
insuffic iency, that the judge or j u ry acted accord i ng to the law" and 
must "exclude the poss ib i l ity of arb itrari ness , wh imsy, caprice , 
' n u l l ification '  and the l i ke . "  Strickland , 466 U . S .  at 694-95 .  

State v .  Grier ,  1 7 1 Wn .2d 1 7 , 34 , 246 P . 3d 1 260 (20 1 1 ) . In making such a 

determ ination , 

a cou rt heari ng an i neffectiveness c la im must cons ider the tota l ity 
of the evidence before the j udge or j u ry. Some of the factual 
fi nd i ngs wi l l  have been unaffected by the errors , and factual 
fi nd i ngs that were affected wi l l  have been affected i n  d ifferent ways . 
Some errors wi l l  have had a pervas ive effect on the i nferences to 
be d rawn from the evidence ,  a lter ing the enti re evident iary p ictu re ,  
and some wi l l  have had an isolated , triv ia l  effect .  Moreover, a 
verd ict or  conc lus ion on ly weakly supported by the record is more 
l i kely to have been affected by errors than one with overwhe lm ing 
record support .  Taking the unaffected fi nd i ngs as a g iven , and 
tak ing d ue account of  the effect of  the errors on the remain ing 
fi nd ings ,  a cou rt mak ing the prej ud ice i nqu i ry must ask i f  the 
defendant has met the bu rden of showing that the decision reached 
wou ld reasonably l i kely have been d ifferent absent the errors . 

Strickland , 466 U . S .  at 695-96 . 

As set forth above , a j u ry i nstructed on a " reasonable be l ief" affi rmative 

defense wou ld not consider such a defense unt i l  after that j u ry had found "that 

the State had met its burden and proved every element of the rape charge 
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beyond a reasonable doubt. " Powe l l ,  1 50 Wn . App .  at  1 57 n . 1 2 ; see a lso Ervi n ,  

1 58 Wn .2d at 756 . 

Here ,  Emerson testified that, d u ring the n ight i n  question , he thought L . B .  

was awake , that her movements and sounds suggested to h im that she was 

i nviti ng sexual contact, and that no penetrat ion had occu rred . L . B .  testified that 

she was asleep and that she woke up  to Emerson 's penis penetrat ing her vag ina .  

After heari ng th i s  evidence ,  t he  j u ry found beyond a reasonable doubt that 

Emerson had forcefu l ly penetrated L . B . ' s  vag ina with h is penis wh i le she was 

asleep .  

Emerson neither establ ishes nor persuas ive ly suggests that the j u ry's 

verd ict wou ld have or m ight have changed had h is counse l 's performance not 

been deficient . I n  fi nd ing that Emerson had comm itted the charged conduct ,  the 

j u ry p la i n ly cred ited L .B . 's test imony over h is testimony. In order for h is 

affi rmative defense to succeed , however, the j u ry wou ld need to do the exact 

oppos ite . Such a resu lt has not been shown to be anyth ing but extremely 

un l i kely . I ndeed , if the j u ry ,  for the pu rpose of fi nd i ng that Emerson had engaged 

in conduct constituti ng rape in the second deg ree , did not fi nd that Emerson 's 

test imony ra ised a doubt as to the cred ib i l ity of L . B .  or the accu racy of her 

test imony, it is not shown to be reasonably l i kely that the same j u ry ,  for the 

pu rpose of eva luat ing his affi rmative defense, wou ld  have changed its views . 

The record does not conta in  evidence g ivi ng rise to such a l i ke l i hood . 7 

7 I ndeed , a good deal of evidence corroborated L . B . 's testimony,  i nc lud ing  her former 
roommate's testimony about her perception of L . B . 's demeanor immed iately after the a l leged 
i ncident and her mother's  testimony about m issed te lephone cal ls  and her perception of her 
daug hter's demeanor on reach ing her on the morn ing  thereafter. Furthermore ,  Emerson's 
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Thus ,  Emerson has not shown that h is  "counsel 's conduct so underm i ned 

the proper fu nction ing of the adversarial p rocess that the tria l  cannot be re l ied on 

as havi ng prod uced a just resu lt . "  Strickland , 466 U . S .  at 686 . Th is is requ i red of 

h im to show an entit lement to appe l late re l ief on the cla im asserted . Accord i ng ly ,  

Emerson's assert ion of prej ud ice and , therefore ,  h is  assertion of i neffective 

representat ion fa i l .  

Affi rmed . 

WE CONCUR:  

cred ib i l ity before the j u ry was also l i kely d im i n ished after testify ing to havi ng l ied to both L . B .  and 
later to a pol ice detective d u ring the investigation .  
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